          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4

             -------------------------------x

          5

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          6

                       of the

          7

             COMMITTEE ON AGING

          8  (Held Jointly With)

             COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH,

          9  MENTAL RETARDATION, ALCOHOLISM,

             DRUG ABUSE And DISABILITY SERVICES

         10

             -------------------------------x

         11

         12                 October 3, 2006

                            Start:  1:15 p.m.

         13                 Recess: 2:20 p.m.

         14                 City Hall

                            Council Chambers

         15                 New York, New York

         16

                  B E F O R E:

         17

                         MARIA ARROYO

         18                 Chairperson, Aging Committee

         19              OLIVER KOPPELL

                            Chairperson, Mental Health, Mental

         20                 Retardation, Alcoholism, Drug Abuse

                            And Disability Services

         21

         22

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         17 Battery Place -  Suite 1308

         25              New York, New York 10004

                              (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             COUNCIL MEMBERS:

          4

          5  Gale Brewer

             Domenic Recchia

          6  Kendall Stewart

             Sara Gonzalez

          7  Vincent Gentile

             James Vacca

          8  Dennis Gallagher

             Simcha Felder

          9  James Gennaro

             Annabel Palma

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            3

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S (CONTINUED)

          3

             Sonia Rodriguez

          4  Assistant Commissioner

             Senior Assistance and Benefits

          5  New York City Department for the Aging

          6  Michael Hyman

             Assistant Commissioner for Tax Policy

          7  New York City Department of Finance

          8  Edith Prentiss

             First Vice President

          9  Disabled in Action of Metropolitan New York

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            4

          1  COMMITTEES ON AGING AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Good afternoon,

          3  everyone. Welcome.  My name is Maria del Carmen

          4  Arroyo.  I Chair the Committee on Aging.  And I'd

          5  like to recognize my colleague, Council Member

          6  Oliver Koppell, who Chairs the Committee on Mental

          7  Health, Mental Retardation, Alcoholism, Drug Abuse,

          8  and Disability Services.  That's a mouthful.  And

          9  thank him and his Committee for joining the

         10  Committee on Aging in this hearing.

         11                 Today, we meet to discuss Intro. Nos.

         12  444 and 445. Both of these bills would raise the

         13  maximum qualifying income for the Senior Citizen

         14  Homeowner's Exemption, or SCHE, and the Disabled

         15  Homeowner's Exemption, DHE.

         16                 We're also considering amending this

         17  bill, 445, to include an election that would allow

         18  senior households who qualify for both exemptions,

         19  to choose the exemption that is more beneficial for

         20  them.  This proposed version has been distributed

         21  here today.  If you don't have a copy, please see

         22  the Sergeant- at Arms.

         23                 These exemptions provide crucial

         24  relief for burdensome property taxes of low income

         25  seniors.  For example, under this bill, senior
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          2  homeowners who hear $26,000 a year or less in tax

          3  year 2006, would receive 50 percent exemption on

          4  their property taxes.  By 2009, by the year 2009,

          5  the qualifying income level would be raised to

          6  $29,000 a year.

          7                 Making ends meet in this great City

          8  is becoming increasingly difficult for all segments

          9  of our population, but especially for seniors who

         10  generally earn less money as they get older.  Simply

         11  put, the costs of most basic needs such as housing,

         12  food, health care, are rising at a rate that incomes

         13  of seniors cannot keep up with them.  That is

         14  evident in the fact that approximately one out of

         15  every five seniors live in poverty in our City.

         16                 This bill would provide necessary

         17  property tax relief to seniors that need it most,

         18  and will have the effect on making their lives in

         19  our City a little bit easier.

         20                 I look forward to hearing from my

         21  colleagues, the Administration, and the advocates

         22  who have come to testify today on this important

         23  piece of legislation.  Thank you all again for being

         24  here.  And I'd like to just make a public

         25  announcement that we will not be voting on Intro.
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          2  445 today, but we are scheduled to have a Committee

          3  vote on the revised 445- A on Tuesday, October 10th,

          4  at 10 in the morning.  And the exact location I

          5  don't think has been determined, but I'm sure the

          6  Committee  --  in the Committee Room, I'm sorry.

          7                 With that, I'd like to recognize the

          8  Members of the Aging Committee who are here with us

          9  today.  And I start from my extreme left, Council

         10  Member James Vacca, from the Bronx; Sara Gonzalez,

         11  from Brooklyn; Gale Brewer, from Manhattan.  I hear

         12  her behind me.  Council Member Stewart, also from

         13  Brooklyn.  And now I'd like to turn over the hearing

         14  to Council Member Koppell, Chair of the Mental

         15  Health Committee.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Thank you.

         17  Thank you very much, Council Member Arroyo.  Let me

         18  introduce the Members of the Mental Health  --  and

         19  for purposes of today, the Disabilities Committee.

         20  Because that's why we're here dealing with this

         21  issue for the disabled.  And we have, over on my

         22  left, we have Annabel Palma, my colleague from the

         23  Bronx.  We have Gale Brewer, who is on both

         24  Committees.  We have Simcha Felder, from Brooklyn,

         25  who is on our Mental Health and Disabilities
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          2  Committee.  And Jim Gennaro is here, and should be

          3  recognized as here.  He had to move his car.  But

          4  he'll be back.  And Vincent Gentile is here, from

          5  Brooklyn.  He's on the Aging Committee.

          6                 The purpose of hearing is to consider

          7  the two bills which raise the partial property tax

          8  exemption for both seniors and the disabled.  And

          9  create parity, not only between the two programs,

         10  which should be in parity, but also parity, as I

         11  understand it, with the Senior Citizen Rent Increase

         12  Exemption Program, which provides benefits to

         13  renters.  So all three programs are now at the same

         14  income level.  Which I might say, in my opinion, is

         15  too low, but we're constrained by what Albany lets

         16  us do.  So we're raising it to the maximum level

         17  that we can, but I think that we still should

         18  implore Albany to increase it further, because

         19  thinking about you know, incomes of less than

         20  $30,000 in the City of New York, it's hard to you

         21  know, to understand how people can live decent

         22  lives, especially when they have to pay the costs of

         23  a home.  In addition to taxes.  So I think the

         24  levels are quite low, but notwithstanding that, it's

         25  good that we're increasing them.
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          2                 Apparently, as a somewhat after

          3  thought, it has been proposed that we make clear

          4  that you choose between the two programs, even

          5  though they're the same, you don't get the benefit

          6  twice.  And so the bill is going to be amended to

          7  indicate that if you're eligible for both programs,

          8  you have a choice.  And you heard when the Aging

          9  Committee's meeting on that.  Our Committee is

         10  meeting next Wednesday, the 11th of October, at 10

         11  am.  That's a Session Day.  Just to vote out the

         12  bill as amended.  I indicated that the amendment to

         13  what we're considering today is just to make it

         14  clear that you make a choice between the two

         15  exemptions if you are an eligible senior.

         16                 So I look forward to hearing from the

         17  Administration, who will clarify the bill.  And I

         18  think we have a few questions on making sure that

         19  everybody sign up who is eligible.  But we look

         20  forward to getting their direct testimony, since

         21  they'll be administering the program.  And I know we

         22  have someone here also from the Department for the

         23  Aging.

         24                 So do you want to call the witnesses?

         25    Do you want me to?  I guess our first witness
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          2  should be Michael Hyman, from the Department of

          3  Finance.  You're going to come together?  Sure.  We

          4  can have you both together.  Sonia Rodriguez,

          5  Assistant Commissioner of the Department for the

          6  Aging.  We'll have you both.            You can

          7  testify in which ever order you wish.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ;

          9  Good afternoon. My name is Sonia Rodriguez, and I'm

         10  the Assistant Commissioner of the Bureau of Senior

         11  Assistance and Benefits at the New York City

         12  Department for the Aging.  And I'd like to thank you

         13  for the opportunity to comment on legislation being

         14  introduced, to bring the income levels of the Senior

         15  Citizen Homeowners Exemption Program, SCHE, and

         16  Disabled Homeowners Exemption Program, DHE, in

         17  parity with the income ceiling for the Senior

         18  Citizen Rent Increase Exemption, SCRIE Program.

         19  These two programs are essential in assisting low

         20  income seniors remain in their homes, in their

         21  communities.

         22                 The New York City Department for the

         23  Aging supports the legislation being introduced

         24  before the City Council, as it brings parity between

         25  the Senior Citizen Rent Increase Exemption Program,
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          2  and the Senior Citizen Homeowners Exemption Program,

          3  with regards to the income eligibility ceiling.  The

          4  proposed legislation will ensure that those already

          5  receiving SCRIE and DHE benefits are not removed due

          6  to small increases in their household incomes.  As

          7  well as ensuring that SCHE and Disabled Homeowners

          8  benefits are available to those currently

          9  experiencing financial stress.

         10                 In 2004, when legislation increasing

         11  the SCRIE income ceiling was enacted, we noted then,

         12  that as the general cost of living increases

         13  continues to rise, and inflation increases, there is

         14  an ongoing need for periodic increases in the income

         15  eligibility for the SCRIE program.  We believe that

         16  this legislation bringing the SCHE and DHE program

         17  in line with the SCRIE income ceiling is an

         18  important step to keep pace with the needs of New

         19  York City's seniors and the disabled.

         20                 We urge your support of this

         21  legislation, and we look forward to speedy passage

         22  of this legislation so that the City can soon

         23  provide enhanced benefits for those New York City

         24   --  New Yorkers who are eligible for SCHE and DHE

         25  benefits.
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          2                 And I thank you for the opportunity

          3  to discuss this important issue with you.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: Good

          5  afternoon.  My name is Michael Hyman.  I'm an

          6  Assistant Commissioner for Tax Policy of the New

          7  York City Department of Finance.  And I just wanted

          8  to echo the comments that were just made.  The

          9  Department of Finance supports this legislation.

         10                 I'm here to answer any questions you

         11  have on outreach.  We are trying to enhance our

         12  outreach efforts, I think in ways that will make the

         13  benefit available to as many people as possible.

         14  You know, in compliance when Local Law Nine passed

         15  last year, we are about to undertake the massive

         16  mailings to notify as many people as possible of all

         17  the personal exemption programs that Finance has to

         18  offer.  We're also working to put all application

         19  materials online, so that people can have as easy a

         20  process as possible of applying.

         21                 And another major initiative which

         22  we're trying to promote is, we're trying to

         23  consolidate the application process into one simple

         24  form, that if people provide some basic information,

         25  we'll tell them if they're eligible for a certain
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          2  exemption.  So for example, if you're a senior

          3  citizen, you put down your income, your primary

          4  residence, and you don't even know you're eligible

          5  for SCRIE, we'll contact you and let you know that

          6  you are eligible and you will be given the benefit

          7  going forward.

          8                 But any other questions, I'll be

          9  happy to answer. Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: I have just one

         11  question.  Is there any relationship  --  or what is

         12  the relationship with the benefits you get here, and

         13  the STAR (phonetic) program, the STAR program for

         14  seniors?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: Well

         16  the benefits are separate benefits, but as far as

         17  the application process, STAR does have a primary

         18  residency, so that's one basic proof that you are a

         19  primary resident.  You know, there's an income

         20  threshold, so you do have to report that for SCHE,

         21  but basically, what we're trying to do is allow

         22  people to fill out one form, and we'll tell you that

         23  you're eligible for STAR, you're eligible for senior

         24  citizen benefit, you may be eligible for a co- op

         25  condo abatement.  So part of our effort is to
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          2  consolidate all that information in as simple a form

          3  as possible.  But the benefits themselves are

          4  separate benefits that are cumulative in value to

          5  taxpayers.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: There's also a

          7  Veteran's benefit, isn't there?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: That's

          9  correct. There's different levels of benefits,

         10  depending on your years of service.  But yes,

         11  Veteran's benefits are also going to be part of the

         12  application process on this universal form.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: And will people

         14  get that form when they get their tax notification?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: What

         16  we're doing is, in the Statement of Account,

         17  notifying people of various avenues to get the form.

         18    It is available online.  I'm not sure if we're

         19  planning to mail it.  Do you know Chris?  We may be

         20  mailing it to people, just so they have it

         21  available.  It's a simple two- page form.  And I

         22  think you'll be amazed.  It's actually currently

         23  online, as to how simplified the process has become

         24  for applying for these benefits.

         25                 The other thing we're trying to do,
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          2  is when somebody new buys their home, as part of the

          3  process of registering at the City Register, have

          4  this form available to you, so you know right off

          5  the bat that if you're moving into a new premise,

          6  you meet certain criteria, any benefit that you're

          7  eligible for will be put on the records immediately,

          8  and you'll have that going forward.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: But every  --

         10  at least every July, you get a statement if you're a

         11  statement  --  if you're a homeowner  --  you get a

         12  statement of what taxes are due.  I think you

         13  actually get it more often than every July.  But you

         14  certainly get it once a year.  I think you actually

         15  get it four times a year. But shouldn't, when you

         16  get that statement, shouldn't this information be

         17  with that?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: That's

         19  a good point. I will check.  I don't know offhand if

         20  that will automatically  be in the first statement,

         21  but I'll certainly convey your sentiments to the

         22  people who administer the program.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Well I  --

         24  those forms are actually quite good now, I must say.

         25    The City forms that tell you what your taxes are,
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          2  and how you can pay them.  And you get a little bit

          3  of a break if you pay them promptly.  That would be

          4  the logical time it seems to me, to get this

          5  statement.  And maybe if you could inform the

          6  Members of the Council, not only me, but every

          7  Member of the Council would be interested.  Because

          8  you know, everybody had constituents who get these

          9  forms.  So  --

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: Sure.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Certainly I

         12  would be interested.  That seems to me kind of

         13  logical to do it, you know, at that time.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Thank you both

         15  for your testimony.  Hearing your testimony gives me

         16  the impression this is going to be a slam dunk.  For

         17  both Committees to get this bill put through.

         18                 The same form issue  --  meaning  --

         19  regardless of what benefits they are applying for,

         20  they fill out the same two page form?   What's the

         21  process?  Tell me.  I'm a senior who meets the

         22  income levels.  How do I do this?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: Sure.

         24  Basically, the form will ask you for some basic

         25  information.  What your address is.  Your age, your
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          2  birthday, your income level.  And I'm trying to

          3  think.  Maybe one or two other questions.  And then

          4  that form will be used to tell you that if you're

          5  over a certain age, you're under a certain income,

          6  you qualify for SCHE.  It also asks questions about

          7  whether you're a veteran.  If you're a veteran, you

          8  might be eligible for that benefit.  If you are a

          9  co- op condo shareholder, there's information you

         10  could submit to you know, make sure that you're

         11  receiving the co- op condo abatement.

         12                 For the senior citizens, the form is

         13  that simple. There's about you know, ten lines.  And

         14  it's meant to cover all different scenarios, but for

         15  the senior citizen, the key information would be

         16  birthday, your address of primary residence, and

         17  your income level.  Which basically, you get from

         18  your tax return.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: So once I submit

         20  this application or this form, I have to do no more

         21  paperwork?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: That's

         23  correct. Finance will  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: And this is

         25  actually happening now?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN:

          3  Correct.  The form is currently online.  I think, as

          4  the Assembly Member  --  as the Council Member

          5  mentioned, we are  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: You want to send

          7  him back to the State so he can work on making it

          8  easier for us to do stuff.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: That's

         10  always my thought.  What we're looking for, and I

         11  think it was a very good suggestion, it may be that

         12  you know, there is a plan to send out the form with

         13  the Statement of Accounts.  I just need to check.

         14  But I'll certainly convey to Commissioner Stark that

         15  this issue is being raised.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: I think that

         18  Council Member Brewer had a question to ask.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: First of all,

         20  I think it will be great if Council Member Koppell

         21  thought of an idea that Martha Stark did not.  That

         22  would be fabulous.  Because Martha Stark thinks of

         23  lots of ideas, and she's great, but she thinks she's

         24  thought of them all.  So I hope congratulations

         25  Koppell.  I know Martha.
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          2                 The question I have is

          3  implementation.  Because these calls used to go some

          4  time ago, to DFTA.  And I like the Department of

          5  Finance, but DFTA is a little bit more accommodating

          6  sometimes.  So in one  --  say for instance, you

          7  don't use online. A lot of the seniors call.  Are

          8  they going to get a voice?  Because right now, they

          9  don't.  And I worry, because the seniors need

         10  assistance.  They're going to call every Council

         11  Member immediately.  Do I file for the disabled?  Or

         12  do I file for the senior?  I can wait  --  I'm

         13  picturing the call.  So my question -  Which is

         14  better for me?  And then we're going to work with

         15  them, we're going to call you.  But I need to know

         16  that there's somebody at the other end who is going

         17  to spend some time with that person. And right now,

         18  that's a challenge.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: I think

         20  that's a legitimate point.  We think that people

         21  have a right to speak to people, not just to

         22  machines.  And I know we are  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Particularly

         24  seniors.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: I know
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          2  what you're saying.  I agree.  We are in the process

          3  of overhauling a lot of our telephone communication

          4  services.  And the goal is to  --  You know, for

          5  some people, and maybe non- seniors, having certain

          6  options that are automated can be helpful.  But

          7  people should have a right to go to a person if

          8  they're confused or they just need some direct help.

          9    So part of the efforts now is to overhaul our

         10  current processes and try to find efficient methods

         11  that will allow people to speak to people to get the

         12  information they need.  And to facilitate the

         13  application process.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Because I'm

         15  really concerned. They will give up.  Now the other

         16  thing is, some seniors, they want to go to the

         17  place.  They don't want to talk on the phone.  They

         18  want to go there.  DFTA, they walk in all day long.

         19  So where can they walk?  Who can they talk  --  they

         20  want to see a person with their papers.  And they

         21  don't all want to go to Simcha's office or my

         22  office.  We want them to go somewhere else.  Please.

         23    So where can they go?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: Well,

         25  the Department of Finance does have Business Help
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          2  Centers located throughout the City.  I mean we

          3  certainly can publicize more the addresses that

          4  people can go in person.  There's one on 66 John

          5  Street.  There's one at  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right.

          7  I'm just saying, is you need to have people from

          8  DFTA work with you.  They're still going to go to

          9  DFTA.  That's what they're going to do.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: Right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And my

         12  understanding from talking to DFTA,  --  I know a

         13  lot of staff members there.  I know your staff

         14  members.  So I've actually been asking this

         15  question. And my understanding is DFTA is still

         16  going to take some of those questions.  So you

         17  really need  --  this is a different population. If

         18  you're taking all SCHE, DRE, and I know you're

         19  taking the rentals also.  SCRIE.  As time goes on.

         20  You've got to have a different approach.  It is not

         21  the property owner who has got a you know, middle

         22  man who is a contractor.  You know, they use the

         23  line, or they're pushy, or they got a secretary to

         24  do it.  You really need a different kind of

         25  approach.  Because otherwise people are not going to
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          2  sign up.  They're going to get frustrated.  And you

          3  owe it to them.

          4                 So I'm just saying that you really

          5  need to put a little time into that.  If you're

          6  going to take on this  --  it's great that ceiling

          7  goes up.  I agree with Council Member Koppell. It

          8  should be higher.  But I just want to emphasize

          9  implementation. Because really DFTA is there for the

         10  seniors.  That's what they're there for.  And

         11  Finance has bigger responsibilities.  I just worry

         12  about the implementation.  You really need to speed

         13  up the personal touch for the senior.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Do you have a

         15  question?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Yes, I do.

         17  Just briefly.  Thank you Mr. Chairman. Thank you

         18  very much for being here.  I'm just curious, if you

         19  can share with us, since the SCRIE eligibility

         20  income has gone up, how many more people have we

         21  been able to get on the program?  And what do you

         22  foresee for both SCRIE and DRE, I guess?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ: I

         24  can speak to the SCRIE in terms of the pattern that

         25  we've seen over the last two years versus the
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          2  various years before, prior to the income

          3  increasing.  We got approximately about 1,500

          4  approved applications in 2005, when the income

          5  ceiling went up to $25,000.  It's still early to

          6  tell the full amount, but it will probably

          7  approximately the same for 2006.  So it's 1,500

          8  applications that normally would have been denied

          9  otherwise.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Fifteen

         11  hundred per year?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ: Per

         13  year.  Per year.  And I'm talking fiscal year,

         14  because it starts July first, the increase.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Do you have

         16  any predictive numbers for the two new programs that

         17  we're  --  for the increase that we're now

         18  considering?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ: I

         20  do not have.  Do you?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: Yes.  I

         22  think the  -- well you know, currently, the SCHE

         23  program has approximately 32,000 recipients, and the

         24  tax savings is an aggregate of $40 million. And it

         25  is heavily you know, at the larger exemption ranges
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          2  that people tend to get benefits.  So A, people will

          3  be bumped up. Existing people will get a larger

          4  benefit.  And I think we're anticipating that over

          5  time, there could be up to like 1,500 new enrollees

          6  in the program.  I think the estimated cost when

          7  it's fully effective will be $3 million in

          8  additional savings to senior citizens.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And you see

         10  that as each year, as the income level goes up,

         11  you're going to have that many more, about 1,500

         12  more each time.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ:

         14  Yes.  Because in 2002, when the income ceiling went

         15  up to $24,000 from the $21,000, it was a larger

         16  increase, we saw an increase in the initial

         17  population.  Approximately 6,000 new SCRIE

         18  applicants came on board.  And that was a large  --

         19  so the annual incremental increase serves as an

         20  average of 1,500.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Well, thank

         22  you.  And I think it's important that we know how

         23  many more people we're going to be able to help

         24  through this legislation.  Or both these

         25  legislations.  Thank you, Madam Chair and Mr. Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Thank you.

          3  Council Member Felder.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you

          5  Chair people for this important hearing.

          6                 I just want to follow up on Council

          7  Member Brewer's line of comments and questioning.

          8  And you know, the hearing is not supposed to be

          9  really sort of trying to tell you mechanically how

         10  to get things done, but it's interesting to me.

         11  First of all, even the font on some of the mail.

         12  You know.  I think Mr. Hyman said that you're going

         13  to find out whether it should be mailed.  I don't

         14  think that there's any question that if the mail is

         15  going out, I know it may be a little bit harder to

         16  stick in another piece of mail, but first of all,

         17  for senior citizens, I'm just envisioning a

         18  campaign, you know, like make believe if I had to

         19  run for office, and what I would do to make sure

         20  that I got each voter, and I think that's what you

         21  want to try to do.  To make sure that you get

         22  contact with every person that could possibly stand

         23  to benefit from this program.  So first of all, do

         24  you have lists of seniors that are not getting this

         25  benefit?  Are you able to figure that out? For
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          2  example, do you have lists of  --  I know you have

          3  lists of whoever is getting the benefits.  Do you

          4  have lists of people who are you know, at either of

          5  the age limit, or disabilities of some sort, that's

          6  probably harder.  But do you have a list of people

          7  65 or older  --  what's the age again?  Sixty two or

          8  older, that are not getting this benefit?  Do you

          9  have those lists?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ: The

         11  SCHE program --  the SCRIE program doesn't have a

         12  list of  --  it would be wonderful if we did.  What

         13  we try to do is we cross match databases with some

         14  of our sister agencies, like the HEAP population,

         15  who are receiving HEAP benefits, who may be aging

         16  into the SCRIE population.  So we do that exercise.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Right.  So my

         18  questioning  -- this is not a criticism, because I

         19  think that both Aging and Finance are probably one

         20  of the better agencies that we have to deal with in

         21  the City  --  but there are Council Members like

         22  myself that aren't perfect, so there are agencies

         23  that are also not perfect.  I can't fathom why in

         24  this day and age, you can't have a list of people

         25  who are 62 or older.  If I can buy the list for a
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          2  campaign, the City can get the list.  And it's just

          3  those people who you're trying to get.  You know,

          4  it's the people you have through these intermingling

          5  agencies that you don't need to bother with.  It's

          6  the other people.

          7                 So A, I would request somehow that

          8  those lists be obtained at whatever costs there may

          9  be.  And that those are the people you should be

         10  mailing. It's like Happy Birthday.  You turned 62.

         11  And the reason we're telling you is because you may

         12  be entitled to a lot of money.  XY and Z.  B, the

         13  mailings that go out should be those that they can

         14  read.  I always use my mother as a test.  If I send

         15  out a newsletter that the font is a certain size,

         16  she throws it in the garbage, even if it has my

         17  picture on it.  She says I couldn't read it.  It was

         18  a nice picture.  Goodbye.  That's it.  You send out

         19  sometimes mailings, as do other City agencies, that

         20  have a lot of information, much too much

         21  information.  It's a simple message.  The City may

         22  owe you money.  Or you may deserve money.  And

         23  answer these ten questions, and have them in large

         24  font.  So it should be easy for them to do.  You

         25  know.  That's two.
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          2                 And three, finally is that City

          3  Council Members like myself, have to prove to our

          4  constituents that we're doing something, even though

          5  I'm not doing anything.  Okay?  I want to help you.

          6  Now for example, when the City publishes  --  and I

          7  know it's a much smaller list  --  lists of property

          8  that are going to go on the lien sale.  I get a list

          9  from the Finance Department.  I send a mailing to

         10  every constituent, or every property owner in my

         11  district, stating, by the way, your name was in the

         12  paper.  Your property is on a lien sale.  If you

         13  don't want it, you know, maybe you want to me, or

         14  something like that.  But it's very easy for us to

         15  use our offices  --  and I'm not making a commitment

         16  to any of my colleagues  --  but we pride ourselves

         17  in servicing senior citizens, because those are the

         18  people that vote most often, by the way.  Okay?

         19                 So I would love the opportunity for

         20  you to give me a list, if you were able to get, of

         21  people 62 or over, who have not responded to the

         22  mailing you got.  I would do a mailing for them, and

         23  say, by the way, you may be entitled to some money,

         24  and we'd love to help you.  So in terms of

         25  resources, this is not me just saying to you, you
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          2  know what?  The City has the money.  They deserve

          3  it.  You should spend the money.  Which is true.

          4  But if you don't want to do it, I'd love to take the

          5  credit.  They deserve the money, and it's not that

          6  difficult to get it to them.

          7                 So those people who are in the net,

          8  that's another story.  But this is a perfect I think

          9  opportunity of the Administration being able to work

         10  with Council Members in identifying those that have

         11  not responded.  You need a list.  And then we'll  --

         12    you know  --  certainly I.  I will pay for the

         13  mailing out of my own budget, to make sure that

         14  senior citizens who have worked so hard for such a

         15  long time, get the money they deserve.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Council Member

         17  Gonzalez, you had a question?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Yes.  I just

         19  want to go back to the same issue that we're

         20  discussing here.  And I want to thank you so much

         21  Sonia, and thank you Mr. Hyman.  And thank you

         22  Chair.

         23                 Mail is good.  Online is good.  But

         24  people like that personal touch.  You have to agree

         25  with my colleagues.  And I was wondering, when we
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          2  did the food stamp campaign, we went out there to

          3  the centers.  And I loved it.  I mean, they get

          4  information. You give them applications.  You talk

          5  to them.  My staff talked to them.  We have the

          6  willingness to do that.  So where you have a captive

          7  audience.  I have what?  Eleven senior centers?  I

          8  think. If not more.  So that's a good place  And

          9  maybe, through the Department of Aging, which does

         10  an incredible job.  And maybe through the staff

         11  that's there, you know, we could do an ongoing

         12  thing.  Maybe once a week, put information out.

         13  Because you know what?  They are the voters.  And I

         14  agree with my colleague Simcha Felder.  But they are

         15  also the reason that we are who we are.  So I just

         16  want to say thank you and thank you for --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Council Member

         18  Vacca.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: I think that

         20  Council Member Felder touched on my question.  And

         21  just to encapsulate it.  We need to know  --  I

         22  would like to know  --  and I'm sure you would --

         23  what is the number of eligibles who are entitled to

         24  both benefits, who may not be receiving them?  That

         25  I think is the question.  I mean, I can give you the
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          2  analogy that we know that there are 600,000 people

          3  in New York City who are eligible for food stamps

          4  who do not avail themselves of the program.  So

          5  we're trying to do outreach, as Council Member

          6  Gonzalez mentioned.  Are you aware of what

          7  percentage of people who may be eligible, according

          8  to your estimates, but do not receive benefits under

          9  both or either of the programs?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ:

         11  Again, I can speak for the SCRIE program, that there

         12  was a study done a few years back.  There is

         13  somewhere between 60,000 to 80,000 senior citizens

         14  potentially eligible for the SCRIE program.  That's

         15  the estimate out there.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: So those are

         17  the eligibles. You're talking SCRIE.  SCRIE.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ: The

         19  renter program, not the homeowner program.  The

         20  renter program.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: The renting

         22  program.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ:

         24  Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: All right,
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          2  60,000 to 80,000 are eligible.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ:

          4  Those who are living in regulated housing, yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: How many are

          6  getting it?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ: We

          8  currently have 45,000 on the SCRIE list.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: So we're

         10  talking of 20,000 to 30,000 people who are eligible

         11  for SCRIE, S- C- R- I- E, but are not getting it.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ: No,

         13  I'm talking about in addition to 60,000.  An

         14  additional 60,000 potentially eligible.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: No,  --

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ: We

         17  currently have 45,000 active SCRIE recipients.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: And you said

         19  you think that 60,000 to 80,000 were eligible.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ: Are

         21  eligible.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Are eligible.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ:

         24  Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: So we're
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          2  talking of a gap of 15,000 to 30,000.  We have a gap

          3  of people who are  --  we have a gap.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ: We

          5  do have a gap.           COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: What

          6  is  --  tell me the gap.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ:

          8  What I'm saying to you is about less than  --  there

          9  are potentially eligible 60,000 additional 60,000

         10  additional than the 45,000 already receiving.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: That's very

         12  serious.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ:

         14  Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: We have 60,000

         16  people eligible above the 45,000 in the SCRIE

         17  program.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ:

         19  Correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: That's what I'm

         21  being told. I can't believe my ears either.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ:

         23  This was going back now a couple years, yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Do you have

         25  estimates for SCHE?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ: I

          3  don't have that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: And the

          5  handicapped disability.  I'm sorry.  DRE.  Do you

          6  have estimates?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: We

          8  don't, although I'm hearing what you're saying.  And

          9  one thing we'll do is look at matching various

         10  databases that we may have to try to do that kind of

         11  estimate.  For example, we have personal income tax

         12  information that we may be able to use to detect age

         13  and income.  So we will kind of get back to you with

         14  that.  We'll look at the programs that currently

         15  exist and try to do an estimate of participation.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: I think this is

         17  a serious issue.  Do you do applications in more

         18  than one language?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ: We

         20  do information in more than one language.  We have

         21  an English application with instructions in Spanish,

         22  Chinese, Russian, and French Creole.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: All right.  I

         24  mean, I think this is something that merits

         25  attention of both Committees and the Council.  And
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          2  I'd like to make a suggestion that we propose an

          3  outreach program that we initiate a public campaign

          4  in this regard. Because those numbers are

          5  astonishing.  We have people who cannot make ends

          6  meet when it comes to rent.  And they are

          7  sacrificing food for rent.  And to think that we

          8  have this benefit available and most people who are

          9  entitled are not getting it.  I'm hearing most

         10  people who are eligible are not getting it.  Okay?

         11  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Yes.  Before we

         13  go to the next individual, I wanted to recognize

         14  Members of the Aging Committee who have joined us.

         15  Council Member Gallagher, sitting in the front.  And

         16  Council Member Recchia, also sitting in the front.

         17                 And the next question will be Council

         18  Member Gallagher.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Thank you.

         20  Among the languages that you just listed, in my

         21  community, I have a lot of Italian- American senior

         22  citizens.  A lot of Germans.  A lot of Polish.  Do

         23  you have language brochures in those as well?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ: I'm

         25  sorry.  We do not have in German, and in Italian.
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          2  We do not have those language brochures.  We are

          3  currently translating all of our materials, which is

          4  something that our Commissioner has been very

          5  sensitive to, in the top five that we have  --  in

          6  the top five meaning for the Spanish, the Chinese,

          7  the Russian, and the French Creole.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: And what is

          9  the dollar amount that it costs to translate all

         10  these documents?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ: Oh,

         12  translations are quite expensive, depending on the

         13  publication that we have.  We have  --  what we're

         14  trying to do at this point, is promote  --  we have

         15  a brochure that is called "How to Get Them", that

         16  actually talks about the eligibility criteria for up

         17  to 18 benefits, including SCHE, and DRE.  And it

         18  gives you the qualifying criteria for food stamps,

         19  SCRIE  --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Can you

         21  give me an estimate of how much that costs in your

         22  agency?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER RODRIGUEZ: I

         24  could get that for you.  I don't have it at hand at

         25  this point, but I definitely can.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Yes, if you

          3  can.  If you can get that to me.  And I just wanted

          4  to tell you that the other day, I sat in a Committee

          5  meeting for Solid Waste Management, and they were

          6  talking about composting.  And they had managed to

          7  break down all the property owners, all the owners,

          8  and have a mailing, and a mailing program, and they

          9  identified who they had to reach out to.  And they

         10  had the samples, and they have everything like that.

         11    And when it comes to senior citizen benefits, I

         12  think it's about time that we do comprise a nice

         13  mailing list.  And as my colleague Simcha Felder

         14  stated, it's really not a very difficult thing for

         15  us to find in government, to find a mailing list

         16  where we an reach out to those who are under- served

         17  and need services.  And those, especially when they

         18  may be able to get some much- needed funds back into

         19  their pockets.

         20                 So I encourage both Aging and the

         21  Department of Finance to come up with a

         22  comprehensive list and to do a mailing. The amount

         23  of money that you're spending on sending out

         24  composting letters, and giving out free big brown

         25  bags, it may be important, but it's not nearly as
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          2  important as providing the senior citizens of our

          3  City, who are struggling to make ends meet, an

          4  opportunity to see some much- needed relief.  Thank

          5  you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Council Member

          7  Palma is next.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you Mr.

          9  Chair.  My question is, do those people who have

         10  applied in the past for the disabled program and

         11  didn't qualify because of the income levels, now

         12  that the legislation is going to  --  the income

         13  levels are going to change because of the

         14  legislation, how  --  do they have to now reapply?

         15  Resubmit an application?  Or is the Administration

         16  going to reach out to them so they can know that

         17  they're eligible for the benefit?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: So the

         19  scenario is, initially they weren't, but with the

         20  higher income ceiling, they may be eligible.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Right.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: I'll

         23  have to check to see what records we have.  If we

         24  have the records of their initial application, I

         25  think that's a very good point, that we should be
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          2  able to contact them and say you're now eligible.  I

          3  just don't know offhand, but I'll check as to the

          4  retention of applications that were denied, and what

          5  period.  I'll check for you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Okay.  And then

          7  in terms  -- like the application process.  Someone

          8  has applied.  How  -- what's the timeline?  How long

          9  does it take for them to hear that they qualify or

         10  they don't qualify?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: I think

         12  we've improved drastically since the program began.

         13  I think when it first did start, there was start- up

         14  issues with just processing and getting everything

         15  going.  I think now, we basically try to review the

         16  materials within like a week or two, and get back to

         17  people with their status.  And if any additional

         18  information is needed, we try to contact people and

         19  let them know that.  Although as I mentioned, I

         20  think the simpler application forms will make

         21  everything much more streamlined.  So I think at

         22  this point, our first reaction is to  --  once we

         23  get them, process them and let people know if  -- as

         24  soon as possible.  If there's any additional

         25  verification, that shouldn't delay someone's hearing
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          2  that up front, they're eligible. And if there's some

          3  additional documentation, we'll ask that at the

          4  second step.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: And the benefit

          6  starts from the day they get approved?  Or from the

          7  time  --  from the day they get approved or from the

          8  time that they submit the application?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: I think

         10  some of these benefit programs really run on a

         11  fiscal year basis, so if you apply by a certain

         12  date, you're eligible for the benefit for the

         13  upcoming fiscal year.  And one thing that has also

         14  changed through legislation this year, is that we

         15  streamlined and made the application period longer,

         16  so people have  --  it used to be that you had up to

         17  the taxable status day, which was January fifth.

         18  Now people have up to March 15th to apply for almost

         19  every personal exemption program the City has.  And

         20  there's even an appeal process that if we deny it,

         21  and you think that that was incorrect, you can

         22  appeal to us by even May, and once you're on board

         23  for the fiscal year that begins in July, you'll get

         24  the benefit.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Let me ask a

          3  follow up question. March 15th for eligibility for

          4  the current year, the current tax year?  Or the next

          5  tax year?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: It's

          7  for the next tax year.  It should be applied by

          8  March 15th of '07, you would get it for the fiscal

          9  year beginning July, '07.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Okay.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Council Member

         12  Vacca had a follow up question.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: I do commend

         14  you for the linkage that you've established between

         15  DRE and SCHE.  The handicapped exemption, and the

         16  homeowners exemption.  Now my question is  --

         17  because you said that the homeowner can take the

         18  best of the two benefits  --  why are we not

         19  establishing the same for SCRIE and DRE?  DRE is

         20  capped at $17,580.  Or $25,212.  Where the SCRIE is

         21  higher.  Can we establish that same policy for those

         22  two programs?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: Only

         24  with Albany's consent I believe.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: So where did it
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          2  come from that you established the better of the

          3  two?  Was that from Albany?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: Yes.

          5  It was legislation passed this year.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: So we have to

          7  go back to Albany if we want to do that with DRE and

          8  SCRIE.   Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Just if everyone

         10  else has finished asking questions, I would like to

         11  get back for a moment to this form you're going to

         12  send out.  Because I'm a little concerned in terms

         13  of the form and the disabled.  Because with respect

         14  to the senior citizens, they have to meet an income

         15  level and a you know, an age level.  But with

         16  respect to the disabled, there are some additional

         17  requirements.  As I understand it, you have to be

         18  receiving SSD, and I want to make sure that the

         19  form, although it should be simple, it can't be too

         20  simple with respect to those requirements.  So you

         21  have to  --  if you're going to say are you

         22  disabled?  You have to indicate what that means,

         23  because some people may feel they're disabled, but

         24  if they're not participating in these programs, at

         25  least as it's currently structured, they wouldn't be
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          2  eligible.  And the question  --  I just want to make

          3  sure the question is not too simply placed with

          4  respect to the disabled.  Otherwise it will create a

          5  lot of confusion.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: I think

          7  that's a very good question.  You know, I think the

          8  way it works now is, in one way in which we're

          9  trying to simplify it, but we certainly don't want

         10  to exclude anyone who didn't apply for federal

         11  programs, is saying that if you qualify for certain

         12  programs such as SSI, you automatically will be

         13  qualified, because there's income criteria related

         14  to those programs.

         15                 In addition  --  I'm just looking at

         16  the form  -- there are some simple questions that

         17  say, can you report your federal adjusted gross

         18  income straight from your tax return.  And them, do

         19  you have a certain you know condition.  And if you

         20  say yes to both, we'll calculate for you, or tell

         21  you that you are eligible.  But the simplest thing,

         22  I think in the most of the population that is

         23  currently participating in the program, are people

         24  who are receiving federal benefits.  And then you

         25  are automatically eligible for City benefits.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Yes, but for

          3  instance, I'm looking here at the memo, and it says

          4  that you're eligible to get the disabled benefit,

          5  for instance, if you are certified as legally blind

          6  by the New York State Commission for the Blind and

          7  Visually Handicapped.  So that's a little bit more

          8  complicated.  That's not a federal benefit.  That's

          9  a special kind of certification.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: No, I

         11  agree.  I mean we are somewhat  --  the State law

         12  has various criteria that get quite convoluted.  So

         13  what we're trying to do is to tackle both sides.

         14  One, try to make it automatic for people who have

         15  straightforward situations.  And then for other

         16  situations, we do have to ask some additional

         17  questions to make sure that everyone is eligible can

         18  get the benefit.  But I guess it's a combination of

         19  trying to simplify where simplification is possible,

         20  and just trying to streamline for other information

         21  that somebody could be eligible for.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: I just want to

         23  be sure that you make it clear in the form, with

         24  respect to disabled, which is our particular focus

         25  of my  --  of the Committee I Chair.  That you make
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          2  it clear that you can get this benefit if you get

          3  federal benefits or if you get certain pension

          4  benefits, like from the Postal Service, or if you're

          5  blind.  Those are the apparently, the requirements

          6  as I read it in the memo.  I take the memo as

          7  correct.

          8                 And so your form can't be too simple.

          9    It can't just say, do you get federal benefits.

         10  Because that wouldn't cover a blind person, who

         11  might not get those benefits, but would still be

         12  eligible.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: No, I

         14  understand you. I --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  So you'll be

         16  sure that that's covered?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: Yes

         18  sir.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Fine.  Anybody

         20  else?  Okay. Yes. Simcha, you have another.  Yes.

         21  Sure.  Council Member Felder.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I just want to

         23  emphasize, I think I made it clear that I want to

         24  just say it one more time.  Is that when you do the

         25  match, you get stuff  --  just like the $400 rebate
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          2  program or any other program, there's a match when

          3  you get back  --  I would  --  you know, for

          4  example, in a perfect world, I would love, if you're

          5  going to send it to 62 or older, to say, to have it

          6  computerized to tell them in advance, you currently

          7  have the following programs.  I know this is maybe a

          8  fantasy, but to say, you have you know, SCHE or

          9  whatever else that they have, so that they know  --

         10  because seniors will often suddenly get a piece of

         11  mail and then start worrying.  You know, they're

         12  concerned. They have the benefit.  The got a piece

         13  of mail.  But in a perfect world, if you were able

         14  to do that, you spit it out and automatically, the

         15  computer you know, the program would say, you

         16  currently have this, you may be eligible for some

         17  other program, if you fill this out.  And then

         18  again, if those that don't get the response, I'm

         19  willing to take my district, you know, the list.  I

         20  don't care how big it is.  If she said  --  if you

         21  said you're missing 60,000 people, so it's about

         22  10,000  --  you know, 5,000 per people  --  I'm

         23  sorry, about 5,000  --  60,000.  No, it's a little

         24  less.  About 2,000 people or so, 1,500 people a

         25  district. It's not a lot, you know.  But if we  --
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          2  I don't mind using resources of my office.  And if

          3  they need help, that you're overwhelmed to have them

          4  come  --  you know, you could do like Motor Vehicles

          5  does.  Where you have people come out to the

          6  Councilmatic offices at specific times, from for

          7  example, Aging. From Finance.  On a specific day.

          8  And we make appointments and you handle  --  and

          9  it's very successful.  We could handle you know, a

         10  hundred or two hundred senior citizens.  Maybe 50 or

         11  60, whatever it is.

         12                 So I'm just asking you on the record,

         13  that I would like to be of help in helping these

         14  people, and if you can come out to our offices and

         15  have sort of a mobile unit that comes out once a

         16  month, two or three times a year, especially once

         17  you send out the mailings, I think that would be

         18  great.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Thank you. Thank

         20  you very much for coming today.  Thank you.  And we

         21  look forward  --  if you could send us a copy of

         22  that form that you're preparing, that would be

         23  helpful.  Send it to all the Members.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: Yes.

         25  Then I'll get back to you with your questions and
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          2  give you feedback.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Good.  Thank

          4  you.  Thank you.

          5                 We have I think just one additional

          6  person, Edith Prentiss.

          7                 Council Member Lanza is here.  Even

          8  though he's not on the Committee.  But we welcome

          9  him.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: It's always

         11  interesting, though.

         12                 MS. PRENTISS: Hello.  My name is

         13  Edith Prentiss. I'm the President of 504 Dems, and

         14  the First VP for DIA.

         15                 I strongly support the expansion of

         16  the maximum income exemption level, but question why

         17  the exemptions  --  if you look at the numbers,

         18  there were ten categories previously, that went from

         19  five to fifty percent.  And in your bill, there are

         20  nine areas that went to forty five.  So we've lost

         21  one category in there.

         22            Secondly, I think it's really great the

         23  bill includes  -- I'm sorry, the Intro includes

         24   "income shall be offset by all medical and

         25  prescription drug expenses actually paid which were
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          2  not reimbursed or paid for by insurance", assumingly

          3  that includes the dreaded Part D that is going to

          4  grow further next year.

          5                 But my question is,  --  and you

          6  know, you're telling us now this comes from Albany.

          7  Funny, Albany says to us last year, in May, why the

          8  expansion of DRIE, D- R- I- E, did not increase to

          9  meet SCRIE, S- C- R- I- E, was because the Mayor was

         10  opposed to it.  Now come on.  You can't be putting

         11  the disabled renter at a total disadvantage to every

         12  other program.  You know, clergy gets a tax

         13  abatement.  Good Samaritans kind of can get a tax

         14  abatement.  If you're a Gold Star parent, you can

         15  get a tax abatement.  But the bottom line is, if

         16  you're a tenant in New York City, and you're

         17  disabled, with an income over $17,000, you don't get

         18  a benefit.  That is basically unfair.  Come on.

         19  This is ridiculous.  Don't forget, you're also

         20  talking about a population that got screwed out of

         21  DRIE.  EPIC expansion this year, as well.

         22                 So we don't get EPIC.  We don't get

         23  our rents frozen.  This is ridiculous.  Why are

         24  tenants who are disabled treated so differently?

         25                 In 2001, when Giuliani opposed it,
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          2  their issue was questions of potential fraud.  I

          3  question why are tenants considered to be more

          4  fraudulent than owners?

          5                 All right.  You know, and it's sort

          6  of interesting, if you look at the last IBO analysis

          7  of SCRIE, they actually talked about the question of

          8  dropping the percentage.  And changing the

          9  percentage of rent to income would actually include,

         10  add more individuals to SCRIE than simply increasing

         11  the cap periodically.

         12                 The definition for eligibility under

         13  both DHE, D- H E, and DRIE, D- R- I- E, are exactly

         14  the same.  And to quote form the City Finance, it's

         15   "physical or mental disability that substantially

         16  limits one's ability to perform a major life

         17  activity and receiving SSDI, SSI, or railroad

         18  benefit disability benefit, or legally blind".  You

         19  know, the City has no problem figuring out disabled

         20  Vets, disabled crime victims, Good Samaritans, et

         21  cetera. I think that they should be able to figure

         22  this out as well.

         23                 I think it's important to recognize

         24  what Liz Kruger had to say in 2003.  Which stated

         25  that, If there's a good reason to exclude disabled
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          2  people from SCRIE access, she couldn't  think of

          3  one.  The disabled ...live on fixed incomes from

          4  Social Security or pensions, and face the same

          5  challenges of meeting rent increases on fixed

          6  income.  In fact, if you look at the poverty

          7  statistics, the disability community has a much

          8  higher poverty statistic than the aging community.

          9  For the simple reason that many of us did not make

         10  it to be vested in our pensions, and also, came out

         11  of the earning system and therefore have very low

         12  Social Securities for a great population.

         13                 I think it's also important to

         14  acknowledge that there are many programs taking

         15  place today, that are increasing the number of

         16  disabled potential renters.  If you look at Olmstead

         17    -- excuse me, Consumer Directed Services, MiCASSA,

         18  Money Follows the Patients, these are all moving

         19  towards getting people out of the nursing homes, or

         20  maintaining them in the community.  If a disabled

         21  individual can't find a rent, have their rent frozen

         22  at the same level, there will be no place for these

         23  individuals to go.

         24                 We are also looking at the fact that,

         25  with such a slow number for SCRIE, and for DRIE
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          2  versus SCRIE, the possibility of disabled

          3  individuals losing their homes is going to be

          4  increasing.  And then were do they go?  The shelter

          5  system? Nursing homes?  It's a hell of a lot more

          6  expensive to keep us there.

          7                 I would certainly hope, if in fact,

          8  the log jam is the State and not the Mayor, or

          9  whoever, I think that this is  -- our population is

         10  being held captive to political gains.  As you

         11  yourself said earlier, seniors vote.  I think it's

         12  one of the problems is there is not an awareness of

         13  a community of disability. There's also not a set of

         14  services.  You know, I mean, about the only service

         15  we have at the City level are specific disease

         16  entities, or the Mayor's Office of Person's of

         17  Disability.  Compare that to the advanced and

         18  extensive network through DFTA.  You know, anyone

         19  can walk  --  I mean, Sara was talking about, she

         20  has 11 centers.  My community has nine centers.  Any

         21  senior can walk into a center and find out about

         22  services.  The disabled do not have that

         23  opportunity.  There are not services to be had out

         24  there.

         25                 I recently came across a 55- year old
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          2  gentleman in Inwood, who knew nothing about any

          3  benefit, was eligible for a variety of benefits.

          4  But there was nowhere for him to go.  The ILCs don't

          5  do case management.  For whatever reason, it's not

          6  in the purview.  There are not services.  There are

          7  not centers.  And I think it's highly unlikely that

          8  in your office, any of you have an individual who

          9  knows about disability programs, to go see some of

         10  those seniors.  And I think that the number of

         11  disabled individuals is a high number, but the

         12  reality is, how many of your offices are accessible?

         13    I can certainly point out to almost every

         14  politician in my community, including both of our

         15  City Council Members, offices are inaccessible.  So

         16  where does the disabled population go?  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Thank you for

         18  your testimony. And your point about places of

         19  contact is a good one that we will --  you've

         20  highlighted that for us, and the Committee will

         21  definitely follow up on that.  And look into that.

         22                 MS. PRENTISS: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: As I understand

         24  it, and your question about the categories is also a

         25  good one.  And we will look into why the categories

                                                            53

          1  COMMITTEES ON AGING AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  were narrowed somewhat, as you pointed out. But

          3  again, this is one of those areas where because it

          4  relates to tax policy, we are, as I understand it,

          5  constrained by what Albany lets us do.

          6                 MS. PRENTISS: I question that when we

          7    --  okay, excuse me.  When SCHE and DHE are

          8  equivalent, and when we're hearing from Albany that

          9  the log jam is in the City, and historically, the

         10  log jam was in the City.  In the Giuliani era, it

         11  was very apparent.  Giuliani, in 2001, sent his

         12  Deputy Mayor up and said no, we can't do this.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Yes, but you've

         14  got to understand that the City  --  you're talking

         15  about the Mayor's Office.  And certainly, the

         16  Mayor's Office has considerable influence in Albany,

         17  and the Council has its representatives in Albany as

         18  well.  And they may take a different  --  but when

         19  you say "the City", and you point to the Mayor, you

         20  must make a distinction between the Mayor and the

         21  Council.  We don't always agree.  And you've got to

         22  understand that from the Mayor's point of view,

         23  these programs do cost money.  And that's one of the

         24  things that sometimes Mayors may be more concerned

         25  about than the Council. I don't mean to say that
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          2  they're always right.  But the reason that these

          3  programs have not been more broadly applied is

          4  because every time you create a tax exemption, it

          5  costs revenue to the City.

          6                 I think in the case of parity between

          7  the SCRIE program and the DRIE program for renters,

          8  you're absolutely right. I support what you said one

          9  hundred percent.  But that does require, as I

         10  understand it, it does require Albany legislation.

         11  We'll look at that question again to be sure, but

         12  I'm pretty certain that I'm correct in what I'm

         13  saying.

         14                 MS. PRENTISS: The numbers for

         15  establishing DRIE versus the numbers for expanding

         16  SCRIE in the last year, were considerably different.

         17    Incredibly higher for the expansion of SCRIE over

         18  the establishment of DRIE.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: You're right.

         20                 MS. PRENTISS: So I think we need to

         21  acknowledge that.  I mean, the Council  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: No, you're

         23  right.

         24                 MS. PRENTISS: The Council has made

         25  many attempts  -- I mean, the Council is very
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          2  involved in repeatedly calling for the expansion of

          3  EPIC.  And was, I'm sure, very helpful in the

          4  expansion, in the establishment of DRIE.  I think

          5  that the disabled community and our advocates made a

          6  major faux pas in accept $17,000 in 2005.  Because

          7  everyone said, oh, next year, we'll increase it. But

          8  we didn't see that happen last year.  And I don't

          9  think we're going to see  --  because the similar

         10  City issue of the EPIC.  As we heard in Albany, this

         11  was not our year.  I think that we have seen over

         12  many years, push comes to shove.  The disabled

         13  community is in the back of the bus.  Even though we

         14  have front- loading buses now.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Councilman

         16  Felder, you had something you wanted to add?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         18  much.  I really appreciate it.

         19                 I've mentioned a number of times that

         20  I had wanted to Chair the Mental Health Committee.

         21  But a better man got the job.  And I'm stuck with

         22  Government Ops.  But this is still my first love.

         23  If I can call it that.  And I just wanted to say

         24  that first, I have a wheelchair accessible office,

         25  and it's cost me a lot of money.  Really.
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          2                 MS. PRENTISS: Thank you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: It's an

          4  elevated office, but I tried finding a storefront,

          5  which was very expensive.  Then I got an opinion

          6  from the Council at that time, that the 250 Broadway

          7  office allows us to sort of satisfy that commitment.

          8    But it's not easy.  Let me just say, it was not

          9  easy finding a place, and I find that it is helpful,

         10  not only to the disabled, but to the seniors, who

         11  very often have to walk up steps.  So at least  --

         12  I'm not perfect by any means, but at least that one

         13  you don't have on me. Okay?

         14                 The other issue I just wanted to

         15  mention is one that the Chair of the Committee has

         16  brought up many times.  I'd like to emphasize that

         17  the advocacy on behalf of the disabled, although DHE

         18  defines disabled a physical or mental disability, I

         19  find, with the constituents that come to my office,

         20  very often the disabled, there's no question that

         21  the disabled community needs a lot more advocacy and

         22  a lot more service than they're getting.  But the

         23  disabled, the mentally disabled, like by leaps and

         24  bounds, they are so far behind even the general

         25  disabled community.  And I'm not sure how we get
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          2  them the help that they need.  So I don't have a

          3  solution.  I'm just making a comment that it's more

          4  often that someone who is disabled will come into

          5  the office, and it's not often enough to try to get

          6  the services they deserve.  Very rare. Very, very

          7  rare that somebody who is mentally disabled or

          8  somebody in their family that will come in and say

          9  is there anything available for them.  And that

         10  really requires a lot of attention. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: I think Council

         12  Member Palma has a question.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you.  Ms.

         14  Prentiss, you mentioned that there's not any set

         15  place out there where people with disability can get

         16  this information, like senior centers and stuff like

         17  that.  Do you believe that the Mayor's Office of

         18  People With Disabilities should serve as that place?

         19    Which can be the anchor to the disabled community?

         20    And I ask you that because I know that that's

         21  where  --  I have one of my constituents sitting

         22  here, Daniel Porro (phonetic), who volunteers in the

         23  Mayor's Office for People With Disability, and if it

         24  wasn't for him, like I know it would be more

         25  difficult for us to do this type of outreach to the
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          2  disabled community.  He kind of brings us all the

          3  information, and serves as our liaison to the

          4  disabled community.  And I believe my office is

          5  fortunate for that.  But do you think that's

          6  something that we should be exploring?  Maybe that's

          7  our first step into connecting the disabled

          8  community to the services.

          9                 MS. PRENTISS: It's sort of

         10  interesting.  If you've ever visited the MOPD

         11  website, it's not very user friendly.  It's not very

         12  helpful.  I think that there are a lot of things

         13  there that are not specific enough and not

         14  addressing it.  I think that MOPD serves well.  I

         15  think that the elevation of Matt to be a

         16  commissioner hopefully will increase the power of

         17  that agency.  I don't see it though.  I think the

         18  fact of the matter is, it comes exactly back to the

         19  same issue as the super polling sites.  You know,

         20  you put five accessible ballot marking machines on

         21  Varick Street, you know, it's kind of  --  I mean, I

         22  schlepped from Washington Heights.  And it's like no

         23  one else is going to bother doing this.  People  --

         24  just like you talk about having the senior walk in

         25  someplace to get service.  To get helped.  Why
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          2  should the disability community have one agency I

          3  think on Gold Street.  On Gold Street.  I've never

          4  even found it.  I have to be honest. That's going to

          5  serve them.  And this is you know, coming back to

          6  what Councilman Felder said, it's true.  It's very

          7  different needs. It's very different services.  And

          8  to have the entirety of all disability services in

          9  one office, in one location, does not well serve the

         10  population.

         11                 The problem is also very clearly on

         12  the State level. There just are not the programs.

         13  The programs did not get funded. With the exception

         14  of specific disability groups.  MRDD.  The visual

         15  impairment.  Auditory disabilities.  But for the

         16  general disabled individual, you know, someone like

         17  myself, who has you know, ambulatory issue,

         18  whatever, there is not a service provider.

         19                 I'm savvy.  I was a geriatric social

         20  worker for many years.  The average disabled

         21  individual does not have that background.  Does not

         22  know how to fight through the system any more than a

         23  senior does.  I think that putting all the eggs in a

         24  basket of MOPD is not the answer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Well we're going

          3  to look at that.  In fact, I asked Marie to put that

          4  on the list of the agenda of the Committee.

          5                 By the way, tomorrow we know we have

          6  a hearing on the voting issue.  So I assume you'll

          7  be here.

          8                 MS. PRENTISS: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Yes.  Well we

         10   --

         11                 MS. PRENTISS: I'll be up at three

         12  o'clock tomorrow morning writing that testimony.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Yes, on October

         14  12th, we have an accessibility hearing also.

         15                 MS. PRENTISS: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: So we're looking

         17  at these issues, as you know, very energetically.

         18  So we look forward to your continuing  --  And we

         19  will do another resolution to the new legislature I

         20  hope, in January, on the issue of the disparity

         21  between the disabled rent increase exemption and the

         22  senior, to get it up from $17,000.  There's a new

         23  legislature coming.  A new Governor will be coming.

         24  In any event, new legislature and a new Governor.

         25  So that gives us another chance to  --

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEES ON AGING AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 MS. PRENTISS: And you know we --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: And you should

          4  ask the candidates.

          5                 MS. PRENTISS: We did.  We did.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Now, has the

          7  Governor candidates committed on this?

          8                 MS. PRENTISS: Well actually, it's

          9  sort of interesting.  Spitzer wants to go back and

         10  re- establish the State Office of Disability.  Which

         11  I think that with a lot of things coming down the

         12  pike, including single point of entry, the

         13  disability community is going to get even more

         14  slammed.  I think that hopefully we will proceed

         15  with that.  But at the moment, it's in the quality

         16  of care.  And that specifically addresses MOPD.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: But have you

         18  asked Spitzer specifically whether he would support

         19  an increase in the disabled rent increase exemption?

         20                 MS. PRENTISS: Yes.  Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: New York is 40

         22  percent of the population, is that right?

         23                 MS. PRENTISS: Right.  And don't

         24  forget, it also includes some Westchester Counties

         25  and some in Nassau.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: But did he

          3  commit to that?

          4                 MS. PRENTISS: We'll have to ask him

          5  again.  We're having another screening this coming

          6  week.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Well, you should

          8  ask him again.

          9                 MS. PRENTISS: We should ask him

         10  again.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Yes.  I think

         12  that's right. Now is the time to get the commitment.

         13                 MS. PRENTISS: You've all seen our

         14  screening applications.  We asked.  You know, a lot

         15  of people skirt those, but we ask.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Very good.

         17  Thank you for coming today.  You're very diligent.

         18                 Anybody else?  Do we have anybody

         19  else who wants to testify?

         20                 The hearing is closed.  We will have

         21  the vote as indicated earlier.

         22                 Hearing concluded at 2:20 p.m.)

         23

         24

         25
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